"OFFICIAL RECORD COPY” DEC 24 1985

Caribbean Drilling Services, Inc.

ATTN: Mr. Kenneth Eastman
President

P. 0. Box 45, Kingshill

St. Croix, Virgin Islands

Gentlemen:
SUBJECT: NOTICE OF VIOLATION FOR EXPIRED LICENSE

NRC records show that the Byprodi'~+ Material [icense No. 55-19508-01 expired on

October 31, 1985, and no renewa: application has been filed in accordance with
10 CFR 30.36.

We have made repeated attempts to contact you to determine if byproduct material
was possessed under this license. Possession of byproduct material without a
valid license is a violation of 10 CFR 30.3. The violation, references to
pertinent requirements, and elements to be included in your response are
presented in the enclosed Notice of Violation.

If you want to continue your program, you must immediately submit the enclosed
NRC Form 313(I), "Application for Byproduct Materials License.," to the address
below with the appropriate fee for a new license as specified in the enclosed
10 CFR 170.

U. §. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
ATTN: Chief, Nuclear Materials

Safety Section
101 Marietta Street, N. W., Suite 2900
Atlanta, Georgia 30323

Also, you must place any radiocactive material on hand in secure storage until
such time as you acquire a valid license. If adequate storage facilities are
not available, you must transfer the material to an authorized recipient until a
new license is issued. No other use of the material on hand or purchase of
additional byproduct material is authorized.

If you elect to dispose of the byproduct material, you must fill out the
enclosed NRC 314 and return it to us immediately.

The responses directed by this letter and the enclosures .re not subject to the
clearance procedures of the Office of Management and Py et issued under the
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, PL 96-511.

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED




Caribbean Drilling Services, Inc. e
St. Croix, Virgin Islands

We request that you give prompt attention to these matters.

Sincerely,

J. Philip Stohr, Director
Division of Radiation Safety
and Safeguards

Enclosures:

1. Notice of Violation
2. NRC Form 313(1)

3. 10 CFR Part 170

4. NRC Form 314
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